
 
MISSION STATEMENT: “The City of Mound, through teamwork and cooperation, provides, at a 

reasonable cost, quality services that respond to the needs of all citizens, fostering a safe, attractive 
and flourishing community.” 

 
MOUND PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

TUESDAY, APRIL 2, 2024, 7:00 P.M. 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS, MOUND CENTENNIAL BUILDING 

5341 MAYWOOD ROAD, MOUND, MN 
            

         Page 
1. Call to Order  

 
 2. Roll Call  
 
 3. Approval of Agenda, with any Amendments 
 
 4. Approval of Meeting Minutes 
 
  A. March 19, 2024 special/rescheduled meeting minutes      1 

 
 5. Board of Adjustment and Appeals  

A.   Planning Case No. 24-02       12  
       Review/recommendation – variance for house remodel/additions project  
 at 4360 Wilshire Boulevard 
 Applicant:  Paul and Kristi Wolfe 
 
B. Planning Case No. 24-03             29 
 Review/recommendation – proposed amendments to mixed use regulations in 

City Code Sec. 129-139 and City Code Sec. 129 (definitions) for consistency with 2023 
amendments to the 2040 Mound Comprehensive Plan  

    
   
 6. Old / New Business 

 
A. Council liaison and staff report/update 
 

 7. Adjourn 
 
The Planning Commission is an advisory body to the City Council.   One of the Commission’s functions is to 
hold public hearings and make recommendations to the City Council.  The City Council makes all final 
decisions on these matters.   Mound City Ordinances require that certain documents and information be 
included in applications.  The Planning Commission may postpone consideration of an application that is 
incomplete and may for other reasons postpone final action on an application. For each agenda item the 
Commission will receive reports prepared by the City staff, open the hearing to the public, and discuss the 
action on the application.” 

 
QUESTIONS:      Call Jen at 952-472-0603 or Sarah at 952-472-0604 



MEETING MINUTES  
SPECIAL/RESCHEDULED PLANNING COMMISSION 

MARCH 19, 2024 

Chair Goode called the meeting to order at 7:00 pm. 

ROLL CALL 

Members present: David Goode, Kristin Young, Kathy McEnaney, Derek Archambault, Nick 
Rosener, Samantha Wacker, Jake Savstrom, Drew Heal 

Members absent: Jason Baker 

Others present:  Sarah Smith, Rita Trapp and Jen Holmquist 

APPROVAL OF MEETING AGENDA 

Goode outlined two amendments to the agenda. 

MOTION by Savstrom to approve the agenda, as amended; seconded by Rosener. MOTION 
carried unanimously. 

REVIEW OF JANUARY 2, 2024 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES and FEBRUARY 20, 2024 SPECIAL 
MEETING WORKSHOP MINUTES 

MOTION by Savstrom to approve the January 2, 2024 regular meeting minutes as written; 
seconded by McEnaney. MOTION carried unanimously. 

MOTION by Savstrom to approve the February 20, 2024 special meeting workshop minutes as 
written; seconded by Heal. MOTION carried unanimously. 

BOARD OF APPEALS 

Review / recommendation of Planning Case No. 24-03 
Proposed amendments to mixed use regulations in City Code Sec. 129-139 consistency with 
2023 amendments to the 2040 Comprehensive Plan  

Goode outlined that the discussion will revolve around acceptance of mixed use development 
and appropriate building height. Trapp outlined the amendments to the code that require 
clarification. The Comprehensive Plan amendment left it necessary to adjust the mixed use 
districts. Staff identified where those standards should be changed as there wasn’t clear 
direction on the items Chair Goode mentioned. We need to clarify how the city will handle 
mixed-use development, what would be acceptable and what is not. And clarification on 

1



acceptable building height. The Comp Plan amendment made it clear Mound does not want 
multi-family or apartment buildings. The city needs to clarify if someone were proposing an 
option with commercial on the bottom and apartments on the top. Trapp said the code should 
as clear as possible.  
 
Trapp discussed acceptable building heights. The standard is 35 feet. The code states 35 feet 
and 50 feet. Trapp wondered if sticking with 35 feet (or about 2-1/2 stories) is desirable or 
should there be more flexibility? 
 
Trapp opened the discussion on acceptable mixed use development. Is mixed-use development 
acceptable? Is there a limit to what that can look like?  
 
Goode asked if staff has any guidance on this. Heal asked what other cities do. Trapp said other 
cities allow multi-family apartments so it is clearer. Trapp stated it seems like, at a minimum, 
allowing smaller scale mixed-use, like some of the existing buildings along Commerce makes 
sense. However, the guidance on bigger scale projects seems unclear.  
 
Savstrom clarified this would include residential, commercial or a combination of the two. 
Trapp said the question is regarding residential and commercial, combined. Trapp outlined 
inquiries to reconvert structures that previously had apartments on the second floor, or having 
commercial in the middle with townhouses next to it.  She said staff is trying to clarify what is 
okay.  
 
McEnaney said in downtown right now, she would be comfortable with commercial on the 
bottom with an apartment on top. McEnaney thinks limiting the height to no more than 3 
stories is acceptable. She said residents have said that the Artessa four story building is too big. 
Trapp asked for clarification. For example, if there is parking is on the bottom, or first story, 
then there would be a limit of two more stories. McEnaney confirmed. Savstrom agreed. 
 
Rosener said he is in favor of allowing as much flexibility as we can, giving a lot of options for 
developers. He thinks commercial/residential mix would make for a pleasant walkable 
downtown where mixed use is concentrated. Residents have made it clear they don’t want 
large apartment buildings, but outside of that, he would be in favor of allowing the mixture of 
commercial and residential.  
 
Young wondered if there were examples from other lake communities like Excelsior and 
Wayzata. Young thought there were examples in Wayzata of commercial on the bottom and 
two residential stories above that. McEnaney said we are Mound. She would prefer to keep 
Mound charm.  
 
 
 
 

2



Trapp said she is hearing that mixed use makes sense, mixed use on the same site with a 
commercial structure in the middle and town houses next to it but not necessarily apartments 
next to it. She wondered, if a proposal came in at three stories but the footprint was the size as 
Artessa, would that be acceptable? 
 
Rosener wondered if the comp plan already includes guidance for density. Trapp confirms there 
is a maximum. 
 
Savstrom asked if Trapp’s question is asking if there needs to be a mixture of residential and 
commercial on one site, but not necessarily stacked? Trapp said her example was if there is a 
building the size of Artessa, but it’s commercial on the first story and residential on the two 
stories above, would that be allowed? Or is that bigger than the city wants? If that is not what is 
wanted, then the code should be clear in relation to size, wall length, etc. 
 
Heal said he doesn’t think McMansions are desired downtown. He likes 2 stories, as long as it 
looks decent. He thinks that would help keep the Mound small feeling. Trapp will keep it at 35 
feet. She said she is hearing that the commissioners would prefer not to have anything that is 
the scale of Artessa. She is hearing commercial and residential, but on a smaller scale than that 
project. 
 
Savstrom wondered what the limit for footprint will be. Will it be limited to a certain square 
footage? Trapp said she will write the codes based on what she is hearing and the 
commissioners will see the language again. 
 
Archambault asked if there are already limitations on density and there are limitations on 
height, why does it need to be more specific? Rosener asked how would the city get more 
explicit than what’s already there? 
 
Savstrom stated, breaking up a structure that would be the size of a cruise ship would be a way 
to place an additional constraint on it to change the architectural feel of the site. He gave the 
example of Commerce Place. If that was wiped out and a developer wanted to place one 
building on that site, it would be very large. Savstrom thought if there were restraints on the 
building footprint then you end up with separations required by the other code that would limit 
the use of the site in that manner. 
 
Trapp stated that a lot of times potential developers will go straight to zoning code without 
reading the comp plan. So it will be important to make it clear what Mound will allow. Savstrom 
thought there might be an architectural aspect that he hadn’t considered.  
 
Trapp wanted to make sure she was hearing the direction the commissioners were wanting to 
go for the mixed use districts and it is good to clarify that apartments in the mixed use is okay 
as long as the scale is right. Trapp pointed out the information on page 10 of the agenda 
packet. The code provisions that she recommended changing consists of strike outs where 
language is proposed to be deleted and underlines where the language is proposed to be 

3



added. Trapp noted there should be provisions so that if an existing multi-family structure 
wanted to redevelop there should be language to guide them how they can do that. That is why 
multi-family was not completely removed entirely. Things can be restructured if they are not 
clear. Existing structures would have to follow site design standards. Everything was left the 
same assuming the mixed use buildings will be allowed.  
 
Archambault wondered how many three story or larger buildings there are in Mound. Trapp 
stated there are not many. 
 
Rosener asked if the mixed use district were being simplified to one type. Trapp will look at the 
language and make it easier, if she can, as the corridor district may not be relevant anymore 
due to the height limits discussed. 
 
Goode asked if staff wanted feedback or if an action was required by the commission. Trapp 
said she will bring this back with changes for the commissioners to see. 
 
 
OLD/NEW BUSINESS 
 
A. Review/recommendation - annual review of Planning Commission Work Rules (tabled at 

January 2, 2024 meeting)  
 
Goode introduced the discussion for the Planning Commission Work Rules. 
 
Smith stated that the City Council will be changing the meeting start time from 7 pm to 6 pm, 
starting in May. The planning commission work rules outline all meeting items, to include what 
a quorum is, cancellations, meeting protocols and start time. Smith wanted to start a discussion 
if the commissioners would like to consider a time change for the Planning Commission, as well. 
Smith asked if the commissioners had any questions or suggestions for the work rules. Smith 
outlined some examples of work rules discussions from the past. 
 
Goode asked for discussion on start time. Wacker thought it’s better to be consistent across all 
bodies. She believes it will be easier on residents to remember, if all bodies start at the same 
time. Heal asked if the block of 4 hours would shift from 6-10. Smith confirmed. Savstrom 
would prefer to keep the start time at 7. His long commute would affect his ability to commit to 
the commission. Rosener said that he thought this would be a hard time to switch since people 
have committed to this time. He would be open to exploring an earlier start time with the 
beginning of the next year. Archambault thought 6 would be an easier start time for families. 
Heal would be okay with 6 start time. Wacker thought maybe it would be a good idea to see 
how the move changes attendance for the council. Goode asked if the time should stay the 
same and then see if the commission wants to make a change towards the end of the year. 
 
Archambault asked why the council was making the change. McEnaney said it was surrounded 
around family time for the council. She also said staff’s time was a consideration because they 

4



sit in their office until 7:00. McEnaney said the topic has been on the agenda for several 
meetings and there has been no negative feedback from the public. 
 
Heal asked how staff felt. Smith said it doesn’t matter to staff, though it would be nice to be 
done earlier. 
 
MOTION by Rosener to table the topic until October to allow time to see how the time change 
effects the council attendance; seconded by Wacker. MOTION carried 4-3 with McEnaney 
abstaining from the vote. 
 
Yes: Rosener, Wacker, Savstrom, Goode 
 
No: Young, Heal, Archambault 
 
McEnaney abstained 
 
Archambault thought it would be better to stay consistent with what the City Council does, as 
the considerations they applied in making their decision also apply equally to the Planning 
Commission. 
 
Archambault asked if McEnaney is recognized as a fully voting member. Smith confirmed. He 
wondered if that should be clarified in the work rules. 
 
MOTION by Savstrom to amend the work rules to clarify that the council liaison is a full voting 
member and approve the other work rules for 2024, as written; seconded by Rosener. MOTION 
carried unanimously. 
 
B. Review/recommendation – 2024 Planning Commission Work Plan and Staff Project List  
 
Smith presented the Planning Commission Work Plan and the 2024 Staff Project List from the 
joint workshop with the city council. Smith said the project list includes three items; property 
maintenance, study of environmental initiatives and becoming an age friendly community. 
 
Wacker asked if the City Council will expect the items on the project list have deadlines, or are 
they just topics the commission should explore? Smith said there was no directive for schedule 
from the council.   
 
MOTION by Archambault to recommend the City Council approve the 2024 Planning 
Commission Work Plan and the 2024 Staff Project List; seconded by Savstrom. MOTION carried 
unanimously. 
 
 
 
 

5



 
 
C. Review/recommendation – 2024 Work Plan Items (ADUs, Solar, Electric Vehicles)  
 
Trapp started the discussion on ADUs, Solar and Electric Vehicles. She stated regulations were 
not drafted because more discussion is needed. Trapp stated she is going to walk through each 
topic separately. In many cases the choices she will provide aren’t mutually exclusive.  
 
ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS (ADUs) 
 
Trapp stated that an Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) is a self-contained residential unit with its 
own living room, kitchen and bathroom. There is no specific statement that says an ADU has to 
have a bedroom so a studio would be allowed, but they can have a bedroom. ADUs are a 
permanent installation and is a legal part of a larger single family property. 
 
Trapp outlined the 12 policy topics that will be discussed in regards to ADUs. She will walk 
through the topics and get commissioners’ input and she can come back with additional 
information if the commission have specific topics they want clarity on.  
 
Trapp said it would make sense if ADUs were only allowed in Zoning Districts with single-family 
properties. Archambault asked if the code already says anything about this. Trapp said right 
now it’s required to be tied together with a door that connects the ADU to the principal 
structure. This would make them completely different structures with fire wall separation and 
could be a completely separate unit. ADUs may be constructed as a conversion in an attached 
structure or it can be a detached structure. No limits.  
 
Trapp showed some examples. The assumption is one ADU would be allowed per single family 
lot. Rosener clarified it would be one ADU, not one accessory structure. Trapp confirmed. 
Commissioners agreed one ADU per lot.  
 
Trapp asked if lot size matter? Should there be a limit? They could be allowed on any lot, 
regardless of size. If that were the decision, language regarding lot size wouldn’t even be 
included. It would just say they are allowed. ADU could be limited to minimum lot size based on 
zoning district, 10,000 sq.ft. for R1 and 6,000 sq.ft. for R1a and R2. Trapp noted there are a lot 
of small, non-conforming lots in Mound so that could impact who could have one. The other 
option is you can say ADUs are only allowed on a minimum lot size and could pick a specific 
number. Rosener asked what other constraints are in code other than lot size. Trapp said 
hardcover, accessory structure coverage, and setbacks for example. Savstrom does not like the 
first option because it should be stated that it’s allowed but you have to meet all the other 
requirements. Trapp said there will be a section that lists all the standards for ADUs. In the use 
table it will be indicated that it is permitted but you have to follow the standards in that 
section. 
 

6



Heal asked the difference between the first and second option. Trapp said for the first one it’s 
permitted but you must follow the other rules. If it’s linked to lot size based on zoning district, 
any already non-conforming lot could not have one. Another consideration is if it were an 
internal ADU, then would lot size even matter?  Savstrom said if it’s already a non-conforming 
lot, he would rather not intensify the non-conformity. Smith offered that residents are allowed 
to build a garage, even if they don’t meet minimum lot size. Lot size is considered an existing 
condition. It was determined that lot size was not needed.  
 
If reference to size of the ADU, Trapp stated this is the most complicated. There are so many 
different sizes of houses and many different things to consider. She said it may become 
necessary to differentiate between a detached structure vs. what’s inside a house. Language 
can be added that detached ADUs shall meet the structure area requirement for an accessory 
structure. Trapp shared a graphic that showed if the structure was allowed to be 15% of the lot, 
how big it could be. Code states the accessory structure limits and those will remain in place. 
One option is to state that ADUs should follow the detached accessory structure code. Another 
option is to state the size can be the ADU cannot exceed a certain percentage of the lot size. 
Other communities state that an ADU can be a certain percentage of the principal structure. 
The issue with that option is that if someone wanted to put it into a basement, there would 
have to be a way that only a portion of a basement could be used for the ADU, it couldn’t be 
the entire basement. Wacker wondered if these would count as extra square footage for 
property value. Trapp wasn’t sure of the answer. Some communities pick an allowed size range 
and say they must conform to all other building codes. 
 
Young asked what differentiates this from being a duplex. Trapp said the owner on the 
structure usually needs to be the owner of the ADU and must live on the site.  Rosener asks if 
there is a building code that states how small a unit can be. Trapp said, generally it’s around 
250 sq.ft. but there isn’t a specific number. Savstrom said he would prefer to have a minimum 
as he does not want the units to be small closets. 
 
Rosener thought the ADU would be small if a percentage was mandated. He would be in favor 
of a minimum.  
 
Trapp presented the different ways occupancy can be determined. You can limit it to a certain 
number of occupants per bedroom, it can be square footage for one person vs. two people. 
Goode asked if staff had a suggestion. Trapp thought having it based on per bedroom vs. square 
footage is hard. Archambault wondered if this is regulated on a principal structure. Trapp said 
no. Young asked about occupancy limits for apartments. Trapp said no, not in the zoning code. 
 
Occupancy is not covered in zoning, that is determined by building code. Archambault said 
some of the options would be hard to enforce. Savstrom would be okay with not addressing 
occupancy in the zoning code as long as it’s covered in building code. Trapp will gather that 
information from the building official and come back. Wacker wondered if there are standards 
for heating. Trapp confirmed they will have to meet building code requirements for a 
permanent dwelling. Trapp also said a size range could be established. 

7



 
Trapp discussed setbacks. She thinks it makes sense to say an attached ADU will meet principal 
structure setbacks. Detached ADUs require more conversation. Trapp provided a graphic and 
outlined current accessory structure setback requirements. How far should a structure be 
required to be in the back yard or side yard? Building code/fire code says they need to be 5 feet 
away from the setback. 
 
Archambault thought it makes sense to be stricter about ADUs vs. accessory structures. Smith 
outlined the current primary structure setbacks in each residential district. Rosener thought the 
principal structure setback makes sense. Wacker wondered if the commons rules will affect any 
lakeshore setbacks. Lakeshore setback is 50 feet from the ordinary high water mark. That is the 
number and it can’t be closer. Savstrom thinks it’s cleaner if we stick to principal structure 
standards. Trapp stated that will make it difficult for some properties as most homes are built 
to those primary structure setbacks. Savstrom stated that didn’t change his opinion. Rosener 
thought a different option somewhere in between the primary and accessory structure 
setbacks might be better. Trapp stated a resident could apply for a variance if there are special 
circumstances. Savstrom thought that would be a better option than to attach ambiguity to the 
code. 
 
Trapp discussed parking and offered some options. Should there be one stall per person, one 
per bedroom? If requirements are established that means they would have to demonstrate 
that there is room for additional parking. Rosener pointed out that ADUs can be for college 
students or aging parents who may not have vehicles so he would be in favor of not specifying. 
Heal thought it’s okay to leave it out.  Savstrom thought it would be better to require an 
additional stall. Wacker thinks there should be language that specifies that at least one 
dedicated spot is required. 
 
Trapp discussed owner occupancy. Does the owner need to continue to occupy at least one of 
the dwelling units? Rosener thought that would discourage renting the primary structure. Trapp 
pointed out the owner can occupy the bigger or the smaller structure. Commissioners agreed 
the owner should occupy one of the units. 
 
Trapp discussed design considerations. She stated this topic has a lot of options and it can be 
more than one. Should an ADU be required to follow the design of the principal structures. 
Separate entrance required? Can you limit the windows overlooking a neighboring property? A 
walkway is usually required. McEnaney said the design should complement the principal 
structure.  Archambault would be comfortable with stricter regulations on a detached structure 
and he thought a walkway should be required. Rosener wondered if there are any accessibility 
requirements. Trapp said that would be per building code. 
 
Trapp discussed administrative options. Can a property be split as long as it meets zoning code 
requirements? Savstrom wondered if the detached ADU would have separate utilities. Trapp 
said the utility billing conversation will be a technical discussion and she would bring that 

8



language back after those conversations take place. Savstrom thinks the language should be 
that principal lots cannot be split. Rosener and Archambault agree. 
 
Trapp discussed procedure. If they meet the standards, it’s a building permit. It can be required 
that owners go through a registration process. You could require owners to go through a CUP 
process knowing that is a longer process and would involve more fees for the resident. 
Archambault thought as long as the rules specified, there should be no reason it can’t be just a 
building permit. Rosener clarified that there are no long term rental licensing requirements 
currently. Smith confirmed. 
 
Rosener asked if someone wanted to use an ADU as an office would there be any different 
language. Trapp said this is specific to the dwelling part but noted what constitutes a kitchen 
should be defined.  Wacker can see there be some abuse and she thinks a kitchen/bathroom 
definition is important. It will be a requirement that these units are hooked up to municipal 
sewer and water. 
 
Young thought a lakeshore owner might want a “bunk house” where no one would stay full 
time. If they met all the requirements they could have a bunk house. No one has to live in it. 
This is just saying that if you want a structure that can be lived in, it needs to meet all these 
minimum requirements.  
 
Would a guest house be an option? Trapp said that if someone wanted to build a structure so 
people can stay over a weekend, they can do that, as long as it meets these standards. 
 
Rosener pointed out Mound has a ban on short term rentals. Trapp confirmed. Owners would 
not be allowed to rent these on a short term basis. 
 
Savstrom said there is only one curb opening allowed per lot. Would we need to add anything? 
Trapp will consider that and write something in there if she thinks it’s necessary.  
 
Trapp asked if anyone had any other thoughts on ADUs. There were no comments. 
 
SOLAR 
 
Trapp began the discussion about solar. Solar is not specifically stated in the code but they have 
been allowed. This would be an allowed accessory use. This isn’t in the code, so adding that 
language will make it clear. Only roof mounted will be allowed. They can’t be part of parking lot 
canopy shading. The language won’t limit the type of building or the zoning district.  
 
Savstrom thought a commercial building might have trouble due to the pitch of the roof or the 
10-inch height limit. Flush mounted is the preference and Trapp will address the pitch needed 
on a flat roof. The intent to make them less noticeable. 
 

9



Trapp asked if solar should be constrained by aesthetics? Maybe we don’t need to have any 
language. Archambault thought only allowing roof mounted systems maybe we don’t need to 
mention it. 
 
Rosener asked if glare is a problem. Trapp didn’t think there is much of an issue with roof 
mounted.  
 
Trapp pointed out some cities regulate that you have to have the collection system placed 
underground. But since ground mounted systems aren’t allowed, this language may not be 
necessary. Heal stated he has a system that is mounted to the side of a building so he would 
have issues with requiring the be underground. His system ties into the electrical box on the 
side of the house. He thinks that should be allowed, as long as it doesn’t look ugly. 
 
Trapp discussed abandonment of a nonfunctional system. Commissioners agreed with the 
proposed language.  
 
The procedure for installing a system would be to obtain a building permit. 
 
ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGERS (EVC) 
 
From earlier discussions Trapp understood the city intends to allow them but will not take any 
proactive steps, at this time. They will be a permitted use in all zoning districts. Heal wondered 
if the city will install EVCs in public parking spaces. Staff will look into it to see if the financials 
can allow. Young asked if there have been requests. None that staff can remember. The 
conversation is, will new commercial be required to install them? Rosener thought he 
remembered a discussion regarding levels 1 2 and 3 pertained to “allowing it”, “ready but you 
don’t have the system” and “ready to use”. 
 
Trapp outlined the levels from the previous discussion. For this slide Level 1 2 and 3 is about 
charging capacity and how fast it charges. 
 
Trapp said some cities require them for any new commercial. Goode pointed out that EVs are 
coming and the discussion will continue to change. Rosener thought it would be good to include 
requirements for commercial new structures over a certain size should have the infrastructure 
in place, if not actually require chargers be installed. Heal agreed. Trapp said we can gather 
more information and revisit this later. Archambault would also like to see more requirements 
but didn’t think the city council was favorable. Young wondered if there is an advantage to 
promoting these systems based on environmental impact. 
 
Trapp said this is the next evolution of cars. The commission is being asked if this is the right 
time and should be planning for it. Heal would rather be proactive than reactive. Rosener said 
the planning commission and city council can raise the bar for developers in the city. Young 
thought a position statement that outlines why it’s important for the community. Wacker 
would like feedback from the community to see if it would be of value to residents. Savstrom is 

10



against putting in infrastructure that won’t be used. He doesn’t think the city should foot the 
bill for people to charge their vehicles without cost. Archambault said we aren’t restricting it in 
residential and he wonders if we should require them in commercial properties. Archambault 
thought the principal users of EV charges at commercial properties won’t be Mound residents. 
It will be someone visiting Mound from further away. 
 
Trapp wondered if staff should investigate some more and bring it back or wait until the next 
workshop. McEnaney said she thinks the council was in favor of gathering more information but 
not mandating anything. McEnaney would be most interested in how much it costs. Trapp 
outlined some provisions that other cities have in place as minimum requirements. ADA, 
lighting, signage indicating only EV Parking, equipment shall be protected by wheel stops or 
bollards. The commissioners agreed with that language. 
 
Trapp will draft the regulations based on the discussion and will bring it back when it makes 
sense to do so. And after that it would go to a public hearing. 
 
D. Council liaison and staff report/update 
 
McEnaney does not have any updates.  
 
Smith said special events are ramping up. Building permits are busy.  
 
Goode asked if Artessa will have an open house when construction is complete. Smith 
anticipates that will be the case but she hasn’t heard anything yet. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
MOTION by Savstrom to adjourn at 9:10 p.m.; seconded by Archambault, MOTION carried 
unanimously. 
 
Submitted by Jen Holmquist 

11



PLANNING REPORT 

TO:  Planning Commission  
FROM:  Rita Trapp and Natalie Strait, Consulting Planners 

Sarah Smith, Community Development Director  
DATE:    March 28, 2024 
SUBJECT:   Consideration of variance request (Case No. 24-02) 
APPLICANT:    Paul Wolfe & Kristi Wolfe 
LOCATION:    4360 Wilshire Blvd (PID No. 19-117-23-13-0014) 
MEETING DATE: April 2, 2024 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  Low Density Residential 
ZONING:   R-1A Single Family Residential

SUMMARY 
The applicant is requesting variance approval to allow for a reduced lakeshore setback as part 
of a home  remodel/additions  project at 4360 Wilshire Boulevard. The lot of record property is 
located on the north side of Wilshire Boulevard, west of the bridge to Spring Park.  The house is 
a walk-out that was built in 1960. The project includes a number of improvements, most 
notably the construction of a new attached garage, as well as a new porch and deck to replace 
the existing deck. The City approved a variance on July 25, 1995 granting a 13 foot lakeshore 
setback variance to allow construction of an 8’ x 24’ deck on the lakeside of the home 
(Resolution No. 95-69).  

REVIEW PROCEDURE 

60-Day Land Use Application Review Process

Pursuant to Minnesota State Statutes Section 15.99, local government agencies are required to 
approve or deny land use requests within 60 days. Within the 60-day period, an automatic 
extension of no more than 60 days can be obtained by providing the applicant written notice 
containing the reason for the extension and specifying how much additional time is needed. For 
the purpose of Minnesota Statutes Section 15.99, “Day 1” is determined to be March 5, 2024 as 
provided by Minnesota Statutes Section 645.15. The 60-day timeline expires on or around May 
4, 2024. The review period can be extended by the City for an additional 60-days if needed. 
Applicants and owners are advised that the City of Mound will be executing an extension for 60 
additional days as described above.  

12



Variance 
City Code Section 129-39 (a) states that a variance may be granted to provide relief to a 
landowner where the application of the City Code imposes practical difficulty for the property 
owner. In evaluating the variance, the City Council must consider whether: 

(1) The variance proposed meets the criteria for Practical Difficulties as defined in City
Code Sub. 129-2.

(2) Granting of the variance requested will not confer on the applicant any special
privilege that is denied by this chapter to owners of other lands, structures or
buildings in the same district nor be materially detrimental to  property within the
same zone.

(3) The variance requested is the minimum variance which would alleviate the practical
difficulty.

(4) A variance shall only be permitted when it is in harmony with the general purposes
and intent of the zoning ordinance and when the terms of the variance are
consistent with the comprehensive plan.

According to City Code Sec. 129-2, “Practical Difficulties” is defined as follows: 

Practical Difficulties, as used in conjunction with a variance, means that: 

(i) The property owner proposes to use the property in a reasonable manner not
permitted by the zoning ordinance;

(ii) The plight of the landowner is due to circumstance unique to the property including
unusual lot size or shape, topography or other circumstances not created by the
landowner; and

(iii) The variance, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.
Economic considerations alone do not constitute practical difficulties. Practical
difficulties include, but are not limited to, inadequate access to direct sunlight for
solar energy systems.

NOTIFICATION 
Neighboring property owners of the subject site, per Hennepin County tax records, were mailed 
an informational letter on March 27, 2024 to inform them of the Planning Commission's review 
of the variance application at its April 2, 2024 meeting. 

STAFF / CONSULTANT / AGENCY / UTILITIES REVIEW 
Copies of the request and supporting materials were forwarded to involved departments, 
consultants, agencies, and private utilities for review and comment.  To date, Staff has received 
no comments on the requested variance. 

13



DISCUSSION 

(1) The lot of record parcel is zoned R-1A Single Family Residential. At 7,410 square feet, the 
lot is larger than the R-1A minimum lot size of 6,000 square feet.

(2) There is currently a single-family home with an attached two car garage on the property. 
The applicant is proposing to increase the garage size, adjust the home’s access and 
entrance, remove an entrance on the east side of the home, add basement bedrooms 
with window wells, add a cantilever to the east side of the house, and to replace the 
existing deck with a deck and four-season porch.

(3) The modifications to the existing home meet the front and side setback requirements. 
While the height will be confirmed at building permit, it is not anticipated to be an issue 
given that the home is a one-story walkout. The applications are proposing the addition 
of window wells to provide egress to the new basement bedrooms. The window wells 
meet setback requirements.  Window wells/fire egress are allowed encroachments in 
side/rear setbacks but cannot extend more than 3 feet from the building wall.

(4) Per code, all new structures on Lake Minnetonka are required to meet the minimum 
required construction elevation.  The Regulatory Flood Protection Elevation for Lake 
Minnetonka is 933.0.

(5) The applicant is requesting a variance from the 50 foot lakeshore setback. The applicant 
is proposing to replace the existing deck, which extends 11.9 feet into the setback, with 
a deck and four-season porch that would extend 17.7 feet into the 50-foot set back. As 
noted previously, the City did grant a variance in 1995 to allow the construction of deck 
13 feet into the lakeshore setback. This current variance request would extend the 
variance by another 6 feet so that the porch would be only 32.3 feet from the OHW 
instead of the current deck setback of 38.1 feet.

(6) There were some errors identified in the proposed survey. The first error is that the 
hardcover calculations from the revised existing survey were not updated. That revised 
survey shows the existing hardcover on the property to be 39.4%, which is under the 
40% allowance for a lot of record. Then, in the existing survey, the replacement deck 
was not included in the proposed hardcover calculations. The estimated area of the 
proposed deck is 140 square feet. If the proposed deck were to be included in the 
proposed hardcover calculation, the total lot coverage would equal 40.5%. The 
maximum allowed hard cover for R-1A lots is 40%. Also, there was a notation on the 
proposed survey that the cantilevers were not included and they count towards 
hardcover. Staff will work with the applicant to clarify what adjustments can be made to 
maintain the lot under the 40% maximum allowance. Members are advised that existing 
hardcover on the property has not been field verified. 

PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION 

14



If Planning Commission recommends approval of the variance, Staff proposes the following 
conditions be included:   

(1) Hardcover shall not be increased beyond 40%.

(2) The proposed survey must be updated so that the hardcover calculation of existing
matches the existing survey.

(3) Applicant shall be responsible for payment of all costs associated with variance
request.

(4) The applicant shall be responsible for recording the resolution with Hennepin County
or may request the City record the resolution with the involved fee to be paid by the
escrow.  The applicant is advised that the resolution will not be released for recording
until all conditions have been met and all fees for the variance have  been paid and
the escrow account is in good standing. The submittal of additional escrow may be
required.

(5) Applicant shall be responsible for procurement of any and/or all public agency permits
including the submittal of all required information prior to building permit issuance.

(6) The MCWD is the regulatory and permitting authority for Rule B (Erosion Control),
Rule C (Floodplain Control), Rule D (Wetland Protection) and Rule N (Stormwater
Management); also Shoreline Alteration (i.e. rip rap, etc.).

(7) Additional comments and/or conditions from the City Council, Staff, consultants, and
public agencies.

CITY COUNCIL REVIEW 

In the event a recommendation is received from the Planning Commission, it is anticipated that 
the request will be considered by the City Council at either its April 9th or April 23rd meeting.  

15



16



17



18



Practical Difficulties – 4360 Wilshire Blvd: 

The lot size of this property is the limiting factor and the practical difficulty.  This property, and 
the surrounding properties, were created and platted prior to current zoning, lot size and 
lakeshore setback ordinances.  In addition, the home was also built on the lot prior to the current 
zoning ordinances.  It is not practical to move the home further back on the lot, so the only 
option to add a deck/porch onto the property is to go closer to the lake.  This property was 
granted an 8’ variance previously, but an 8’ deck does not provide a high level of usability.  We 
are just asking for another 6’ past that to build a deck and porch that are usable.  This is a 
reasonable use of the property and will not inhibit any adjacent property owner’s enjoyment of 
their property.  To that fact, the adjacent property to the east is closer to the lake than what this 
variance request would allow for the subject property.  The overall proposed end use of the 
property will conform with the character of the neighborhood and is a reasonable use for the 
property. 

19



20



LEG
AL

 
D

E SC R
I

PTI
ON : 

L ot 8
1, in "Phel

ps' Islan
d Park

 First Di
vision", also a strip of lan

d lying betw
een said Lot 81 an

d th
e 

sh o r
e of B

l a
ck Lake

, ac
cordi n g to 

th
e pl at

 th
ereof . 

S C
O

PE 
OF W

O
RK

 &
 LI

M
IT

A
TI

ON
S: 

1 . 
Sh o

w in g the len
gth

 
and d

ire c
t ion of bou

nd ary
 lines of th

e
 legal d

e
scription 

lis ted above. Th
e 

sc op e of o ur
 s

erv
i

c e
s

 d oes not in
cl ud

e
 d

et e
rmi nin

g wh
at

 y o
u

 o
wn, w

h
i ch is

 a l egal 
m

att e
r . P l eas

e 
ch e

c k
 th

e legal 
desc r

iption with 
your r e

co
r d

s or consu
lt w

ith com
petent

 leg
al co un

sel, if 
necessary

, t
o

 m ak
e s ur

e th
at

 i t is
 co rr

e ct an
d th

at
 any 

m
at ters of record , s

u ch 
as e as

em
en

ts , th
at

 
y

ou w
i sh t

o
 b e i ncl ud ed 

on 
th

e surv
ey h av

e b een
 sh own

. 
2 . 

Sh o
wi ng

 t he l oc at
i o

n
 

of ob serv
ed ex

i s ti ng
 i

mp ro
vem

ent
s w e d e

em
 n

ecessa r
y fo

r th
e surv

ey . 
3 . 

Setti
ng surv

ey m
ark

e
rs o

r 
verifyi

ng exis
ti ng

 su rv
ey m

ar ke rs 
to est abli s

h the c
om

ers of th
e 

p ro
perty

. 
4 . 

Exi s ting buildi n
g dimensions an

d 
se tb

acks m
easured to

 outs
ide of siding or stucco. 

5 . 
Sh o

wi ng an
d t

ab ul at
i ng i

mp
e

rviou
s

 s
urfa

ce covera g
e of th

e lot fo r y o
ur

 
re

vi e w an
d fo

r th
e revi e

w
of such g o

ve
rnm

ental agen cies t h
at m

a
y have ju

risdiction over thes e
 requir emen

ts to ver ify 
they 

ar
e

 c o rr
e

ctl
y

 
sh

o
wn 

b e
fo

re p ro
ce

edi ng wi th
 co

nstru
c ti o

n . 
6 . 

Sh o
wi ng el ev

a tions on the sit e at sel e c
te

d locati o
n s to give some indicati o

n of the top o
graphy

 of 
the si te . 

W
e hav

e a lso p ro
vi de

d a 
be

n c hm
ark 

for y o ur
 

use 
i n d e te

rmi ni ng el ev
a tio

ns 
for 

con
stru

cti o
n

 o n
 th

is si te. The elevat i
ons 

shown
 relate 

only
 to the benc h

mark
 

pr o
vided

 on t
his 

surv
ey . U se th

at
 b e

nch
m

ark 
an

d ch e
ck 

a t l e ast on
e oth

e
r

 fea
tur

e
 sh o

wn
 

o
n

 th e s
urv

ey wh
en 

de te
rmi ni ng ot

her elevati
ons fo

r us e on this si
te or bef

or
e beginn i

ng co ns
tru

cti o
n. 

7 .
Thi s surv

ey h as been 
c o m

pl e t ed w
i th o

ut t he b e n
efi t of a c

urr ent t i tle c
ommi

tm
e

nt. 
T

h e re m
ay 

b e 
exi s ti n

g easem
e

nts or othe r encu
mbran

ce s that would be rev
eal ed by a cu

rrent
 titl e

 comm
itm

ent. 
Th er

efo
re ,  th

i s surv
e y d o e s  no

t p
urp o

rt
 to sh o

w
 

any 
easem

e
nts o

r
 e n c umb

r
anc es 

othe
r

 than 
t

he
 

on
es show

n
 h e r

eon. 
7. 

W
hi le w

e sh o w
 a p ro

p os
e d

 l o
cat

i o
n

 fo r t
hi s h o m

e or 
addi ti o n, w

e are n
o t as fa m

i li
ar

 wit h y o ur
 

pr
opo s ed pl an

s 
as y

ou,
 yo

ur arch
it e

ct , o
r

 th e b uil
d e

r  ar
e . R

e
vi ew 

o ur
 p ro

po
s ed l o

cat
i o

n
 of th

e 
imp

ro
ve m

e
n

ts car
efu

lly t
o ver i

fy that
 they m at

ch y o
u

r p lan
s

 b efo
re const

ructi o
n

 begi n
s . Al s

o , 
we 

ar
e

 n ot as 
fam

i li
ar w

ith
 local co d

es and m
inimum

 
requirem

ents as the loc al
 buildi n

g and
 zon

ing 
offi

cials i n th
i s com

m
uni

ty ar
e . B e sure to sh

ow th
is s

urvey to 
s

aid offi
ci als , 

or any 
oth

e
r

 offi
c ial s 

th a t 
may h av

e jurisd
iction over th

e prop o
sed im

pro
ve m

ents 
and ob

ta in their appro
vals be f

ore 
beg

i nn
i ng c onstru

cti o
n

 
o

r
 pl ann

ing imp
ro

v
em

ent
s

 to th
e p

rop erty . 

ST 
AND 

A RD 
SY

MB
O L

S
 

& 
C ON

V
ENTI

ONS
: 

"•
"

 Den
o te

s
 i ron s urv

ey
 mar

ker, found, un
les s otherw

ise no ted. 

E
X

ISTING HARDCOVE R
 

Ho
u
se 

Dec
k 

Pa
ti o 

Concrete/Walk/S
t

oops 
P a

ve
r 

Blo ck s 
Drive

wa y
 

W o
od 

S tep
s 

TO
T

A
L
 

EXIS TI NG 
HA

RD
C

OVE
R

AREA OF LOT 
T

O OHW 

1 ,5
36 

Sq. F
t. 

196 Sq. Ft. 
9

2
 Sq . 

Ft. 
278 Sq. Ft. 

1 4 9 
S

q . Ft . 
722 S

q. Ft. 
4

0
 Sq . F t . 

3,0 13 
Sq. 

Ft . 
7,410

 Sq. Ft . 

PE
RCENTAGE 

O
F HARDC

OV E
R TO L

OT 
40.7

% 

PRO
POSED HA R

DCOVER 
H o

us
e 

4 
Sea

son 
Porch

 
Ga ra

g e 
P

rop
ose d Walk 

D ri v
e wa

y
 

Wood Steps 

TO
T

AL 
P RO P

O
SE D 

HA
RD

C
O

VE
R

 
AR

E
A

 O
F

 LOT
 

TO OH
W 

1 ,0 22 
Sq . F t . 

196 Sq .
 

Ft.
708 

S
q . 

Ft. 
119 Sq. Ft

.
7 75 

S
q. F t . 

40 Sq. F
t

. 

2 ,8 60 
S q . F t . 

7,410
 Sq. Ft. 

PERCENTAGE O
F HARDCOVER TO LOT 

38. 6% 

Note
: Ca

n
t

i
l

ev
e

rs 
and deck

s n
o

t
 

include
d

 in 

h ar
d

c ov
er

. 

BLA
CK

LA
KE

/ � 
\ 

EXI
S

TIN
G

D W
E

L
LI

NG 

E X
\Si

\N G
 

G
ARA GE

 

/ 
/ 

/ 

I I 

I l � 
' \ 

\ 
'' ' ' \"t;. \"O

 
' ' ' \ ' '

/
 

/
 

' �
 

\ 
BEN

C
HMA

R
K : 

' ·EA
S

T C O
RN

ER
 O

F
 C A

TCH 
B A

SIN 
GRATE 

= 
9 37 .34 

p
ROP

0SE
0
 

G
ARA GE

 
F\..
OOR
 

"' 
9

44 .
4 

._D _A TE _
_

 -+-

R _E _V1 _s _1 o _N _D _E _s _c _R _IP _TI _O _N _
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
 

----I 
DW

G
 O RI ENTAT

IO N 
S

C
A

LE
 

C LIEN T/JO B A
DDR ES

S

A
d van

c
e 

3 -26-
24 

A
DDED 

M I SS IN G S

C A
LE 

BA R , R EVIS ED H A RDCOVER 
0 

10 ' 
2

0 ' 
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

PA
UL

WOLFE

43
60

 WI
L

S
H

IR
E B

L
 V

D 

MO
UND

,
MN

 

Surveying
 &

 Engin
e
e
ri
n
g
, 
Co

.

1 7917 H ig h
w

ay N o . 7 
M i

nnet
o nka, Minn

esota 
55

3 45 
Ph on e

 (
952) 4

74 -7
9

64
W e

b: www
.adv sur.com

E XI STIN
G

DWE
L

LIN
G / 

I H
EREB

Y 
CE

RTI
FY

 lHA
T lHIS P

LAN , SU
RVE

Y OR 
REP

OR
T

WAS
 PREP

ARED 
B

Y
 ME OR 

U N
D

ER
 M Y 

DIR
ECT

 
SUPE

R
VISI

ON 
A

NO lHA T 
I 

AM 
A 

DU
LY

 RE GI
STERED 

LA
N

D SU
RVE

YOR

U NDE

R lHE LA
WSOF 

TH E S
T A�

TA.
 

w�
�

 
A,J

f_
5

 
#43

50 3 
LICENSE N

O . 

M A
R

CH 
5 2024 

DAT
E

 

D
ATE S U

RVE
YED : 

S HEE T TI T
LE 

S H
EE

T
 N O . 

PR
OPOSED

S UR
VEY

 
F EB R

U
A

R
Y 2

9 , 2 0
24 

S HE ET 
S IZE

: 1 7 X 2
2

S
1

D
ATE D

RA
FTED : 

D
RA

WI N
G

 
N

UM
BER 

MAR
CH 

5 , 2 0
24 

24
0183 

BH 
PR

OPOSED
S H

E ET 1 O F 1 

21



22



23



24



25



26



27



Hennepin County Property Map Date: 3/29/2024

Comments:

1 inch = 100 feet

PARCEL ID: 1911723130014
 
OWNER NAME: Paul Wolfe & Kristi Wolfe
 
PARCEL ADDRESS: 4360  Wilshire Blvd,Mound MN 55364
 
PARCEL AREA: 0.18 acres, 8,046 sq ft
 
A-T-B: Abstract
 
SALE PRICE: 
 
SALE DATE: 
 
SALE CODE: 
 
ASSESSED 2023, PAYABLE 2024
       PROPERTY TYPE: Residential
       HOMESTEAD: Homestead
       MARKET VALUE: $722,300
       TAX TOTAL: $8,048.52
 
ASSESSED 2024, PAYABLE 2025
      PROPERTY TYPE: Residential
      HOMESTEAD: Homestead
      MARKET VALUE: $625,600
 

This data (i) is furnished 'AS IS' with no 
representation as to completeness or 
accuracy; (ii) is furnished with no 
warranty of any kind; and (iii) is not suitable 
for legal, engineering or surveying purposes. 
Hennepin County shall not be liable for any 
damage, injury or loss resulting from this data.

COPYRIGHT © HENNEPIN 
COUNTY  2024

28



                                                 

 

PLANNING REPORT 
 
TO:      Planning Commission  
FROM:      Rita Trapp, Consulting Planner  
    Sarah Smith, Community Development Director  
DATE:      March 29, 2024 
SUBJECT:   Mixed Use District Updates     
MEETING DATE:  April 2, 2024 
 

Attached are revised Mixed Use District regulations based on the input received from the Planning 
Commission at its March meeting. The two major areas of change are clearly establishing that 35 feet is 
the maximum height and adding a provision that limits a mixed use building with residential units from 
having a façade which faces a lot line which is longer than 200 feet. The term façade was used as it 
would encompass all walls that might be facing a lot line. As part of the code updates it is proposed that 
the following be added to the Section 129-2 Definitions: 
 

Façade means an exterior side of a building which faces, and is most nearly parallel to, a lot line. 
The façade shall include the entire building walls, including all wall faces, parapets, fascia, 
windows, doors, and visible roof structure of one complete elevation.  

 
Staff did review the districts to determine whether or not to retain the Mixed Use Corridor (MU-C) 
District. While the regulations are similar, there are differences between the two districts relative to the 
uses. In particular, the two districts are different relative to the following uses: 
 

Use MU-D MU-C 
Dwelling, two-family and Dwelling, twin home C P 
Automobile Repair, Minor - P 
Boat and Marine Sales - C 
Open Sales Lots - C 

 
 

29



Sec. 129-139. Mixed use districts. 
(a) Purpose 

(1) The Mixed Use Downtown District (MU-D) is established to create a vibrant 
environment with a mixture of retail, services, office, residential, civic, 
institutional and recreation land uses that complement one another. The district is 
intended to have high-quality site and building design that creates a walkable and 
bicycle friendly environment.  

(2) The Mixed Use Corridor District (MU-C) is established to allow for the 
continued mix of retail, services, office, residential, civic, institutional and 
recreational land uses. This district’s physical character is intended to be similar 
to the Mixed Use Downtown District with pedestrian friendly site and building 
design but with less intensity due its corridor nature and adjacency to residential 
neighborhoods.  
 

(b) Applicability  
(1) New structures or uses. The provisions of this section shall be fully applicable to 

all new structures and uses.  
(2) Existing structures. 

a. Commercial. A property owner may expand an existing building up to 50% 
of the existing footprint or parking lot without establishing a new PUD as 
long as it meets the requirements of the C-1 district.  

b. Residential. 
1. An existing single-family detached dwelling, two-family dwelling or 

twin home dwelling, may be replaced, expanded, or remodeled as long as 
it meets the bulk regulations of the R-2 district. 

2. An existing multi-family structure may be remodeled or expanded as 
long as it meets the bulk regulations of the R-3 district. Any multi-family 
structure that is replaced must follow the standards in sections (c) 
through (e) below.  

c. The remodel, replacement or expansion of an existing structure that does not 
meet the requirements of districts identified above shall be processed and 
subject to Section 129-35 Nonconformities.   

(3) Existing planned unit developments or planned residential areas. Any planned 
unit developments or planned residential developments that were granted prior to 
[insert adoption date] shall remain in effect. Amendments shall be processed via 
the procedures identified for planned unit developments. 
 

(c) Bulk requirements 
(1) Ordinary High Water Mark (OHWM) setback for all uses is 50 feet.  
(2) Front yard setbacks are established as follows: 

a. Non-residential, mixed use, and multi-family residential being replaced shall 
be located no closer than 10 feet and no greater than 20 feet from the front 
property line. 

30



b. Single family and townhomes shall be located no closer than 15 feet and no 
greater than 25 feet from the front property line. 

(3) The minimum percentage of the street frontage for each lot that must be occupied 
by a building façade, as measured at the front setback, shall be 60% for the Mixed 
Use Downtown District and 50% for the Mixed Use Corridor District. This 
standard applies to the front property line frontage and, for a corner lot, one 
exterior side property line frontage. Recesses in a building façade do not qualify 
as meeting the minimum building street frontage standard. 

(4) Rear and side yard setbacks are as established in the planned unit development.  
(5) Building height shall be limited to 35 feet. the following: 

 Mixed Use – Downtown Mixed Use – Corridor 
Dwelling, two-family, twin 
home, townhome, and 
rowhouse 

35 feet 35 feet 

All other uses 50 feet 50 feet 
 
(6) All floors above the second story must be stepped back a minimum of 8 feet from 

the ground floor façade in non-residential, mixed use, or replacement multi-family 
buildings if the structure abuts or is across the street from residential uses located 
outside of a mixed use district or if all or part of the structure is located adjacent to 
a County Road. If the entire building is placed at the upper floor stepback setback, 
an additional stepback is not required for the upper floors.  

(7) Maximum impervious surface coverage is 75%. 
 

(d) Site design 
(1) Developments may include uses mixed horizontally across multiple buildings or 

vertically where uses are mixed within one building.  
(2) Designated pedestrian routes, including sidewalks and driveway crossings, shall 

be provided to connect each parking space to the front sidewalk, front entrance, 
and/or rear entrance. Driveways shall not be utilized as a designated pedestrian 
route.  

(3) (5) All rooftop or ground mounted mechanical equipment and exterior trash and 
recycling storage areas shall be enclosed with materials compatible with the 
principal structure. Low profile, self-contained mechanical units, including solar 
energy panels and rooftop rainwater collection systems, which blend in with the 
building architecture are exempt from the screening requirement. 

(4) (6) Outdoor storage of recreational vehicles, trailers, or equipment shall not be 
allowed unless expressly noted in the planned unit development.  

(5) New mixed-use buildings with residential units or replacement multi-family shall 
provide the following: 
a. (3) Interior or exterior bicycle racks or storage shall be provided. No bicycles 

shall be allowed on individual unit decks or patios. 
b. (4) Private useable open space. Each multi-family residential development 

shall provide a minimum of 200 square feet per residential unit as private 

31



usable open space. Private usable open spaces will not count toward park 
dedication requirements. Usable open space means designed outdoor space 
intended for passive or active recreation that is accessible and suited to the 
needs of the development’s residents, and shall generally have the following 
characteristics: 
1. Functional and aesthetic design that relates to the principal building or 

buildings, with clear edges, including seating, landscaping, recreational 
facilities, sidewalk connections, and other amenities; 

2. May be designed as courtyards, plazas, picnic areas, swimming pools, 
playground, rooftop patios/gardens, or trails within natural areas; 

3. Compatible with or expands upon existing pedestrian connections and 
public parks or open space; 

4. May include both private common areas for use by all residents of that 
development, as well as a private unit’s open space for exclusive use by 
that unit’s residents;  

5. Does not include driveways, parking areas, steep slopes, or stormwater 
ponds. 

(e) Architectural design  
(1) Architectural details 

a. All new building fronts shall include a minimum of two of the following 
elements: 
1. Architectural detailing, such as cornice, awning, parapet, or columns 
2. A visually pleasing primary front entrance that, in addition to doors, shall 

be accented with design features as awnings, canopies, pillars, special 
building materials or architectural details Entrances shall be clearly 
articulated and obvious from the street 

3. A combination of horizontal and vertical design features 
4. Irregular building shapes 

b. No individual mixed-use building with residential units shall have a facade 
facing a lot line that is longer than 200 feet.  

c. Any exterior building wall adjacent to or visible from a public street, public 
open space, or private street may not exceed 50 feet in length without 
significant visual relief consisting of one or more of the following: 
1. A façade shall be divided architecturally by means of significantly 

different materials or textures 
2. Horizontal offsets of at least four feet in depth 
3. Vertical offsets in the roofline of at least four feet 
4. Fenestration at the first floor level that is recessed horizontally at least 

one foot into the facade 
d. Multi-story buildings shall have the ground floor distinguished from the upper 

floors by having one or more of the following: 
1. Awning 
2. Trellis 
3. Arcade 

32



4. Window lintels 
5. Intermediate cornice line 
6. Brick detailing such as quoins or corbels 

e. All building entrances shall incorporate arcades, roofs, porches, alcoves, 
porticoes or awnings that protect pedestrians from the rain and sun. 

f. Darkly tinted, frosted windows or any windows that block two-way visibility 
are prohibited as ground floor windows along street facades. 

(2) Exterior finish materials 
a. Wood lap siding, including fiber cement products with the same look, should 

be the predominant exterior material for street facing elevations. Other 
materials that provide a similar high quality exterior may be approved through 
the planned unit development process.  

b. Bulkheads may use wood, brick, stone, or precast products. 
c. Window and siding trim may be combination of wood materials. 

(3) All accessory structures, excluding private exterior trash enclosures, shall be 
constructed of the same materials and colors of the principal building. 

(f) Parking and loading 
(1) Parking for residential units shall be provided on site and shall be specifically 

reserved for the use of residents. Visitor parking for residential units can be shared 
with other uses on site. Designed Designated residential unit spaces shall not be 
counted as part of any shared parking or joint parking agreement.  

(2) When two or more parking lots have adjacent rear or side property lines, the 
parking lots may be connected by a driveway crossing the side and rear yards as 
long as access easements are established. 

(3) Any parking lot that will contain six (6) or more parking spaces abutting or across 
the street from a residential use outside of the mixed use district shall have a 
screening plan approved as part of the planned unit development. This screening 
plan should include a combination of landscaping, fencing, or walls. 

(4) Loading docks shall not be located in the front yard and shall be 100% screened 
from ground level view of public streets and public open spaces. Screening can be 
landscaping or a wall of the same materials and colors as the principal building. 

(g) Allowable uses 
Within the mixed use districts, no building or land shall be used except for one or more of the 
following uses 
P  = Permitted Use 
C  = Conditional Use 
( - )  = Not Allowed 
 

Use MU-D MU-C 
Residential     
Household Living     
Dwelling, single-family detached C C 
Dwelling, manufactured home - - 
Dwelling, two-family and Dwelling, twin home C P 
Dwelling, townhouse or rowhouse P P 

33



Use MU-D MU-C 
Dwelling, replacement apartment multiple-family P C P C 
Dwelling, mixed use apartment (1 or more units) P P 
Dwelling, existing and replacement P P 
Manufactured Home Park - - 
Group Living     
Community Residential Facilities (6 or less) - - 
Community Residential Facilities (16 or less) C C 
Senior Living Facility P C P C 
Lodging     
Lodging, such as hotels and motels P P 
Short-term Dwelling Unit Rental - - 
Bed and Breakfast P P 
Non-Residential Uses     
Adult Establishments P P 
Automobile Repair, Minor - P 
Automobile Repair, Major - - 
Banks, Finance, Insurance, and Real Estate 
Services 

P P 

Bar / Tavern P P 
Boat and Marine Sales - C 
Brewery & Microdistillery, including Taproom & 
Cocktail Room P P 

Brewpub P P 
Car Wash - - 
Cemeteries - - 
Commercial Recreation C C 
Electrical Substations - - 
Essential Service Buildings  C C 
Essential Services P P 
Funeral Home P P 
Health Club, Fitness Center and Dance Studio P P 
Industrial, Light - - 
Licensed Daycare and Preschool (12 or less) P P 
Licensed Daycare and Preschool (13+) P P 
Local Government Buildings & Institutional 
Buildings 

P P 

Medical and Dental Clinics P P 
Motor Fuel Station - - 
Motor Fuel Station, Convenience Store - - 
Offices P P 
Open Sales Lots - C 
Parking Lot, Surface (Principal Use) C C 

34



Use MU-D MU-C 
Parking Lot, Structured (Principal Use) C C 
Personal Services P P 
Pet and Veterinary Services P P 
Place of Worship P P 
Planned Unit Development C C 
Private Lodges and Clubs P P 
Public and Private schools C C 
Public Park and Recreation P P 
Repair Service Shops P P 
Restaurant P P 
Retail, General P P 
Shopping Center P P 
Theaters P P 
Accessory Uses     
Accessory Buildings P P 
Drive-through for a permitted or conditional 
business 

C C 

Food Trucks P P 
Gardening and Horticulture uses P P 
Home Occupations P P 
Lodging Room P P 
Outdoor Dining Area for Commercial Use C C 
Outdoor Sales Display C C 
Parking Lot, Surface (Accessory) P P 
Parking Lot, Structured (Accessory) P P 
Swimming Pools and Hot Tubs P P 

 
 

35


	PC regular  meeting on April 2 2024 FINAL
	April 2 PC packet  combined no agenda cover
	March 19 PC minutes for April 2
	Planning Report for Variance at 4360 Wilshire
	In the event a recommendation is received from the Planning Commission, it is anticipated that the request will be considered by the City Council at either its April 9th or April 23rd meeting.

	Wolf Background
	Wolf Variance and HC for 4360
	Practical Difficulties - 4360 Wilshire Blvd
	WOLF 4360 Wilshire Boulevard updated survey 240183 BH EXISTING REV 3-26-24
	WOLF 4360 Wilshire Boulevard  updated  survey 240183 BH PROPOSED REV 3-26-24
	Wolf 4360 Wilshire Blvd -- Wolf - Mound Remodel Finals
	WOLF variance 1998
	Wolf HC Aerial

	Mixed Use Combined for April 2
	PC Report Mixed Use Changes April 2024
	Mixed Use District 2024 Updates Code for April 2
	Sec. 129-139. Mixed use districts.






